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CAST LIST


Sir Harry Oakes, Bt. - Multimillionaire baronet and murder victim, aged sixty-eight in July 1943


Eunice, Lady Oakes - His wife, aged forty-four


Nancy Oakes - Their eldest child, heiress to the Western hemisphere’s largest gold mine, aged nineteen


Count Alfred de Marigny - Her husband, aged thirty-three


Georges, Marquis de Visdelou - De Marigny’s best friend, aged thirty-four


Betty Roberts - His girlfriend, aged sixteen

 
The Duke of Windsor - Formerly King Edward VIII, now Governor of the Bahamas


The Duchess of Windsor - Formerly Mrs Wallis Simpson


(Sir) Harold Christie - Property agent and business partner of Oakes


Axel Wenner-Gren - Swedish tycoon, founder of Electrolux and suspected Nazi agent


Inga Arvad - Former Miss Denmark and suspected mistress of Wenner-Gren


John F. Kennedy - American naval officer and lover of Arvad

 
Baroness Marie af Trolle - Best friend of Nancy Oakes


Baron Georg af Trolle - Her husband and private secretary to Wenner-Gren


Brenda Frazier - American heiress, socialite and magazine cover-girl, aged twenty-two


Sir Frederick Williams-Taylor - Her grandfather, a banker living in Nassau


Jane, Lady Williams-Taylor - Her grandmother and MI5 agent, queen of Nassau society


Howard Hughes - Admirer of Frazier, former owner of Wenner-Gren’s yacht, the world’s largest

 
Ruth Fahnestock - Ex-wife of de Marigny


Lucie-Alice Cahen - First ex-wife of de Marigny

 
Godfrey Higgs - Barrister defending de Marigny, aged thirty-five


Ernest Callender - Junior to Higgs, aged thirty-four


Sir Oscar Daly - Chief Justice of the Bahamas and trial judge


Eric Hallinan - Attorney-General of the Bahamas, prosecutor of de Marigny, aged forty-three


Alfred Adderley - Nassau’s leading barrister and prosecutor of de Marigny, aged fifty


Raymond Schindler - America’s most famous private investigator


Leonarde Keeler - Principal exponent of the lie detector and partner of Schindler


Erle Stanley Gardner - Journalist, author and creator of detective Perry Mason


Ernest Hemingway - Friend of de Marigny; a writer

 
Captain James Barker - Miami policeman and fingerprint expert


Captain Edward Melchen - Head of the Miami Homicide Squad


Lt. Col. Reginald Erskine-Lindop - Commissioner of Police, Nassau


Major Herbert Pemberton - Head of the Bahamas CID


Major Frederick Lancaster - Erskine-Lindop’s deputy


Captain Edward Sears - Nassau policeman


Lt. John Douglas - Nassau policeman


Frank Conway - New York Police fingerprint expert


Maurice O’Neil - New Orleans Police fingerprint expert


J. Edgar Hoover - Director of the FBI

 
Newell Kelly - Oakes’s business manager


Walter Foskett - Oakes’s lawyer, based in Miami


John Anderson - Banker and employee of Wenner-Gren


Dorothy Clarke - Dinner guest of de Marigny, married to an RAF officer


Jean Ainsley - Dinner guest of de Marigny, married to an RAF officer


Fred Cerreta - Dinner guest of de Marigny; an American engineer


Effie Heneage - Dinner guest of Oakes


Levi Gibson - Christie’s driver and factotum
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PREFACE

On 11 April 1942, at about half past three in the afternoon, a German torpedo struck the Blue Funnel liner Ulysses off Cape Lookout, North Carolina. My father, who was then six, had just been put down in his cabin for a rest. As water began to pump into the cargo bay, my grandmother scooped up him and his sister and with the other ninety passengers began in orderly fashion to get into the lifeboats. These soon pushed off from the stricken vessel, which shortly afterwards received a second and fatal blow amidships.

The sea was choppy, but the sun shone and before dusk the boats were picked up by a US Navy corvette. The only casualties of the submarine were the family’s collection of minor French masterpieces (among them paintings by Courbet and Fantin-Latour) and my aunt’s velveteen dog, Pumpkin.

The Owens had left Australia about two weeks previously, heading home to Devon. Three years before, my father had been diagnosed as having tuberculosis and in early 1940 his mother had been advised to move, for the sake of his health, to a less damp climate than that of the West Country. Switzerland had been the first choice, but was ruled out because of the war, so Australia it had been.

As the conflict intensified, the family found themselves cut off from my grandfather in England, and they had spent two years living in Melbourne where it was soon established that there was nothing the matter with my father’s lungs. The doctors had been wrong. In the summer of 1942, against advice, my grandmother  decided to risk the voyage back to Britain. At the Panama Canal, a fellow passenger with whom she had made friends tried to prevent her from reboarding the boat. Afterwards, he could not be found, and she remains convinced that he was a spy who was signalling their position to the wolf pack.

Following their brief brush with danger, and then a short stay in America, the trio went on to Nassau, in the Bahamas, as the threat from U-boats was too great to risk joining another convoy across the Atlantic. Nassau was the nearest British possession to which my grandfather could transfer sterling for them, and through American relations of his they also had an introduction to the wife of the islands’ Governor - the Duchess of Windsor. My grandmother rented a house, Hillcrest, close to the Duke’s residence, and there they spent the next eighteen months, far from any other alarms.

That, at any rate, was my impression of their war until a few years ago I belatedly made the effort to actually talk to my grandmother about her time in Nassau. It soon emerged that the Bahamas’ isolation had made them a haven for a conspicuous number of people who preferred that they, and their money, should not be unduly troubled by the conflict raging elsewhere, people who enjoyed playing fast and loose with the rules - and with each other. And one episode in her reminiscences soon came to dominate my imagination: the killing there in July 1943 of one of the richest men in the world, Sir Harry Oakes.

My grandmother remembered it vividly. Mostly this was because at a party on the night of his death she happened to have been playing ‘Murder in the Dark’, but also because she had been to dinner at the Oakeses’ and knew some of those involved in the subsequent investigation. The crime had made the headlines everywhere, not just in Britain (where it was the only item to displace war news from the front page of the Daily Telegraph) but even in Germany. In America, where there was no rationing of newsprint, the papers ran page after page of coverage for weeks and sent down writers such as Erle Stanley Gardner, the creator of the detective Perry Mason, to cover the story.

Yet sensational as the murder was - and intriguing as it remained by virtue of its not having been solved - in the decades since 1943 it had faded from the public’s memory. It had been touched on in histories of the Windsors’ time in the Bahamas, and there had been three books about the case, but these seemed to me to have notable defects.

The first two, The Life and Death of Harry Oakes by Geoffrey Bocca (1959) and King’s X by Marshall Houts (1972), appeared to suffer from the handicap of not being able to say what the authors thought for fear of libelling those involved who were still alive. Houts’s study also subscribed to a theory of Mafia involvement which, while understandable in the era of The Godfather, struck me as based on sources whose veracity was at best unverifiable. The third book, Who Killed Sir Harry Oakes? by James Leasor, written about twenty-five years ago, also played the Mafia card, and long parts of it seemed to be constructed as lightly fictionalised fact. What was true, what was imagined remained, to my mind, unclear.

Moreover, none of these writers drew on interviews with those best placed to clear the tangle of rumour and speculation that had grown up around the affair: the people caught up in it. Certainly, one of them, Oakes’s son-in-law Count Alfred de Marigny, had written his memoirs at the end of the 1980s. But his account of the crime was necessarily subjective and, as will become plain, his reliability as an autobiographer was not all that it might have been.

Some sixty years on, there was, I realised, a final opportunity to collect together the memories and testimony of the remaining survivors, and with new evidence now available present a fresh and independent account of the case. There was also the chance to preserve a little of a time and place that is starting to float out of reach. What follows, I hope, does justice to that opportunity, and to what Erle Stanley Gardner justifiably called ‘the greatest murder mystery of all time’.

 
The lines at the start of Chapters 1-10 are taken from traditional Bahamian hymns and chants.




ONE


De win’ blow east -  
De win’ blow west -  
It blow like jedgement day


 
 
It was not yet breakfast time but already Herbert Pemberton was a worried man. As he came up the drive of Westbourne, the lush garden steaming from an overnight drenching, he was turning over in his mind the extraordinary news he had received a few minutes before. Inside his khaki police uniform he was sweating, and it was not because of the heat.

Later he recalled the scene that met him as he arrived at the long, bougainvillea-covered building that was one of the Oakes family’s half-dozen homes in and around Nassau. It had just been extended to provide accommodation for the neighbouring country club, which the Oakeses also owned, but what Pemberton now saw was far from tranquil. Fire had run amok in the house. There were scorched spots on the hall stairs, soot smudges on the banister and others on the steps’ outside edge. More smoke marked the walls by the bedroom door at the top of the flight.

The door itself was open, and heavily stained on its outer face. Inside, two charred tracts of carpet, like giant stepping stones, pointed the way to a pair of beds shielded from view by a tall screen across whose pattern of Chinese domesticity there now lay  a curving black blister. On the nearer bed, face up, was the body of a man said to be worth two hundred million dollars.

His death had not been a good one. A heat that had eaten deep into the heavy wooden frame of the bed had almost wholly consumed his pyjamas. A burn as wide as a hand encircled his chest and abdomen, while others spattered the corpse from head to foot. There was a tangible odour of charred flesh. At some point, the left side of his skull had been shattered, spilling blood across his face.

Pemberton’s gaze took in the rest of the room, now a disconcerting mix of the commonplace and the bizarre. Between the two beds stood a table on which were a lamp, reading glasses and a set of false teeth. Above, smoke had crawled high up the walls and flame had destroyed the mosquito net. To one side sat another table, atop which was a large radio. On the other bed was a pair of white trousers and a shirt, and beyond them, on the rough-painted wall of the room, were several reddish marks which resembled handprints. At the foot of the burned bed a small fan whirred quietly, gently ruffling the hundreds of tiny white feathers strewn over the dead man’s chest.

Someone had killed Sir Harry Oakes, the richest man in the Bahamas - one of the richest men in the world - and for Major Herbert Pemberton, deputy commissioner of police, it was a bad start to what was going to be a very difficult day.

 
Pemberton was not alone in the room that morning of 8 July 1943. Indeed, one of the problems with the ensuing investigation would be that before it was sealed off to secure the integrity of any evidence, as many as thirteen people viewed the crime scene. The first of these was the man who had found Oakes’s body, Harold Christie.

Then aged forty-seven, Christie was one of the most talked-about men in the Bahamas. Gossip had it that he had made a fortune smuggling whisky to America in the days of Prohibition, twenty years earlier. Certainly he had prospered since by selling land, particularly following the arrival of Harry Oakes and his  millions from Canada nearly a decade before. The two had become the closest of friends as they worked on various development schemes, and had seen each other almost every day.

Only the afternoon before, Christie now told Pemberton, they had gone together to get an exit visa for Oakes, who was planning to travel to America later in the week. Permits - Christie shrugged. This war had made everything so unnecessarily complicated.

Afterwards they had played tennis - for though Oakes was twenty years his friend’s senior he remained extremely vigorous - and then they had admired some palms that Oakes had planted on the beachfront outside Westbourne. Later that evening Sir Harry had given a small dinner party. Lady Oakes, his wife, was away at their house in Maine, and all their five children were off the island at school or on holiday, including his elder daughter Nancy, who had recently turned nineteen. Her husband, a tall, debonair French Mauritian nobleman named Count Alfred de Marigny, was in town but, as Pemberton knew, he and his father-in-law were rumoured not to be on dining terms.

Following a game of checkers the guests had left, except for Christie, a bachelor, who often spent the night at Westbourne. He had intended to drive the ten minutes or so back into Nassau itself after dinner, but then had changed his mind as he and Oakes had arranged to meet journalists the next morning. They planned to discuss Oakes’s scheme to import sheep from Cuba to provide meat for the islands.

Accordingly, when he had woken at about seven o’clock after a night disturbed by tempestuous rain, Christie had gone along the balcony which ran around the house. Not finding Oakes at the breakfast table overlooking the ocean, Christie had knocked on his door. Opening it, he had seen the devastation inside and had tried to revive the older man, but there was nothing to be done. In a state of shock he had telephoned several people for help, including his brother Frank, and then had contacted Colonel Erskine-Lindop, the Commissioner of Police. It was he who had  alerted Pemberton, the head of the CID, the force’s detective branch.

Erskine-Lindop then had a more delicate call to make. The Duke of Windsor had been the Bahamas’ Governor for just under three years, and had been appointed to the remote and rather insignificant colony, many believed, in order to keep the former king (and his wife) safely out of reach of the Nazi regime of which he had been such an incautious admirer in the years before the war. Few were fooled by the brave face that the Windsors had put on the announcement in 1940: one American newspaper declared that the post amounted to being no more than the manager of an expensive winter resort.

One of the Duke’s consolations during his time in Nassau, as Erskine-Lindop knew, had been his friendship with Sir Harry. The pair had often played golf together, and they had collaborated on a number of schemes designed to improve the islands’ meagre economy and infrastructure. Oakes’s death would certainly come as a heavy blow.

What Erskine-Lindop could not have anticipated was how personally the Duke seemed to take the news once he had been woken by his young equerry John Pringle, or that he would decide to take charge himself of the direction of the investigation. Clearly Oakes was an important figure in the islands, and his murder was likely to bring them a little more into the spotlight, but under normal circumstances the search for his killer would have been left to the police.

To the Duke’s mind, however, these were not normal circumstances. Because of their consequences, his subsequent decisions have led to much criticism and to his motives being questioned, but that morning at least he appeared to have ample and clear reasons for acting as he did. Foremost in his mind was his memory of the wage riot that had shaken Nassau the previous summer, and the doubts about the Commissioner’s abilities that Erskine-Lindop had provoked by failing to quell it before looters had ransacked the capital’s main thoroughfare, Bay Street.

His was only a small police force - four officers and 140 constables, with almost half of those spread around the outer islands - and, as was appropriate to the Bahamas’ status in the colonial pecking order, its resources were not plentiful. An inspection the year before had found that the police transport pool consisted of three elderly motor cars, one rusting truck and a condemned motorcycle. Then again, it was very rarely called on to do much more than investigate run-of-the-mill assaults and the occasional robbery, and that almost exclusively amongst the black inhabitants who formed the vast majority of the islands’ population. Levels of crime had been rising for some years, but, the Chief Justice had commented at the opening of the Quarter Sessions only the day before, these had now declined, and he trusted that it presaged a more law-abiding spirit in the colony. How ironic that hope now seemed.

No, the Duke decided, Erskine-Lindop could not be entrusted with a high-profile and sensitive case such as Oakes’s murder. Pemberton might have more than fifteen years’ service with the force but he too had no experience of a crime such as this, which might have all sorts of ramifications should the killer not be swiftly caught. Not least, any bungling would further reduce public confidence in the police, and by the public the Duke was thinking chiefly of the conservative lawyers and merchants of Bay Street who after the riot had proved even less inclined to accede to his plans for political and economic reform.

The problem was that it could take weeks for experts from Scotland Yard to arrive. Wartime conditions made travel across the Atlantic difficult, and seats on flights were at a premium. By the time any detectives did make the journey, the trail would have long grown cold. Then the Duke had a bright idea.

London might be four thousand miles away, but Miami was only two hundred. On a visit to that city a short time before, he had been impressed by the local detective assigned to him as an escort, a Captain Edward Melchen. Would it not be sensible to ask the chief of the Miami police department to put Melchen and  the resources of his force at the Duke’s disposal as a way of helping Erskine-Lindop in his task? Surely the Americans would be only too happy to aid their wartime ally, particularly when the request came from someone of the Duke’s standing? He duly made the call.

To stifle speculation in the press abroad, he then forbade the cable office to allow any telegrams to be sent, so that word of the murder should not get out. The only exception was the message he dispatched to his political masters at the Colonial Office in London that afternoon: ‘Deeply regret to report that Sir Harry Oakes has met violent death under circumstances which are not yet known. Hope to obtain expert advice of Chief of Miami Detectives immediately, to assist local police. Will telegraph further.’

Its wording set out the facts plainly enough. It was perhaps the last occasion on which that phrase could be applied to any of the circumstances surrounding the death of Harry Oakes.




TWO


Once upon a time, a very good time,  
De monkey chew tobacco an’ ’e spit white lime -


 
 
Not for the only time in the case, the Duke’s intentions did not achieve the desired result. The decision to close the cable office came too late; word of the killing had already got off the island. At half past seven that morning, Etienne Dupuch, the editor of the  Nassau Daily Tribune and one of the journalists due to meet Oakes to tour the proposed sheep farm, had telephoned Westbourne to confirm the appointment. A frantic Christie had taken the call and had blurted out the news of Oakes’s murder. Straightaway Dupuch had fired off a telegram to the Miami offices of the Associated Press, whose representative he was in the Bahamas.

They duly passed on the story to the British newspapers, who were further intrigued when their cables to Nassau were met with silence. They asked the Miami press to investigate for them, and soon reporters were encamped at the city’s airport, preparing to quiz passengers disembarking from the daily Pan American flight from Nassau. The attempt to suppress news of Oakes’s death did not stifle rumours, it only encouraged them.

The next day, the story of the baronet’s murder was the only item of non-war news to make the front page of the Daily Telegraph in London. Amid reports of the German drive on  Kursk - ‘A Million Men Engaged in Battle’ - and the death in an air crash earlier that week of the Polish leader General Sikorski, readers learned of the killing of the multimillionaire ‘famous for his gold-mining activities’.

In an era when journalism was considerably more sober, and its practitioners in the Allied nations preoccupied by the struggle with the Axis powers, for Oakes’s death to be given the space it was is an indication of the magnitude of the story. Such was the shortage of newsprint that even The Times comprised just four pages a day, but both it and the Telegraph made room for substantial obituaries of Sir Harry. The Times’s readership learned, too, that a pair of American detectives had been summoned to Nassau on a ‘secret mission’.

Thursday morning’s flight from Miami had carried the two men in question. Captain Edward Melchen, the officer asked for by the Duke, was the head of Miami’s Homicide Bureau. A stocky, stout Southerner of fifty whose spectacles were wedged firmly between a large nose and the low brim of his homburg, Melchen had investigated more than five hundred murders in nearly twenty years with the force.

With him, equal in rank but junior in standing, was Captain James Barker, whom the Miami police had also thought to send. A decade younger than Melchen, a head taller, he was blessed with the manly good looks favoured by Hollywood studios of the time, his appearance marred only by a pronounced limp: a motorcycle accident fifteen years before had left one leg more than an inch shorter than the other. It had not stopped the Indiana-born Barker from becoming an acknowledged fingerprint expert. He had made a wide reputation for himself eight years earlier when he had identified by their prints the remains of dozens of former soldiers working on a federal project in the Florida Keys who had drowned during a hurricane.

He was now in charge of all Miami’s police laboratories, and while it was true that although they had joined the force at the same time it was Melchen who had advanced further, Barker  could comfort himself that he cut the better figure. He was neat, even dapper in a suit, a handkerchief in his breast pocket. Melchen’s jacket wrestled with his bulging stomach.

The flight was met by Erskine-Lindop and Pemberton who drove the two detectives over to Westbourne just as it started to rain heavily. It had been a wet couple of days. Though the previous afternoon, Wednesday, had been scorchingly hot - the shops in Nassau had run out of Coca-Cola - on the night of the murder the heat had been the precursor of a tremendous thunderstorm which had saturated the ground with more than an inch of rain.

By the time that Melchen and Barker arrived at Westbourne at two o’clock, the humidity level was approaching one hundred per cent and the temperature was in the high eighties. The pair took a quick look around the house before Barker declared that the conditions meant it was too humid for him to begin dusting for any fingerprints that might have been left by the murderer. The difficulty, it seemed, was that prints are formed mainly from sweat and when the air is very damp they remain moist. If he began brushing, he might simply wipe them away.

Instead, the two detectives began to take statements from those who by now had turned up at the house, drawn by the day’s news. It must have rapidly become clear to Erskine-Lindop and Pemberton that - whatever the wording of the Governor’s telegram to London - their American counterparts did not see their role as being confined merely to assistance. Whatever might be said in public, as far as Melchen was concerned it had become his investigation.

In fairness to him, it seems likely that that was the basis on which he had been brought into the case. Certainly, from the manner in which Erskine-Lindop now faded into the background it can be assumed that the Duke had told him, and Leslie Quigg, the head of the Miami police, that Melchen was to be given a free hand. Erskine-Lindop may not have been any great loss to the investigation - the Duke would later write that he had ‘more or less sat down on the job’ since the riot of the year before - and  given such an attitude the Duke was not disposed to mind upsetting his feelings.

Yet Erskine-Lindop had almost twenty-five years’ experience in colonial policing: if he lacked some of the vigour that the Americans prided themselves on, at least he knew how to do things by the book. His inability to dictate that this should happen in the Oakes investigation would have the gravest consequences. Instead, he and Pemberton had to content themselves with helping Melchen when asked, and with belatedly positioning a pair of constables on guard outside the bedroom. At half past three, the body of its occupant was carried downstairs and taken away to the mortuary.

 
The story of how a millionaire has made his money is usually as prosaic as the man himself, but there was little that was dull about Harry Oakes. Although he ended his life as a baronet in the British peerage, and had found his fortune in Canada, he was born an American, in Sangerville, Maine, just before Christmas 1874. The town was also the birthplace of Hiram Maxim, the inventor of the machine gun that bore his name.

Oakes’s father, William, who came from a family that had been established in the state since the Revolution, had trained as a lawyer but poor health had led to his taking a job in the outdoors instead as a surveyor. His wife Edith worked as a schoolteacher, and was a strong supporter of the temperance movement. Her husband was not overly influenced by her beliefs, and spent much of his time in the local tavern, although all agreed he was the very soul of kindness and consideration. Harry was the third of their five children.

He grew up on the 110-acre Oakes homestead amid the beauties of the Maine countryside, and developed a love for, and an understanding of, the natural world. By the late 1880s his parents had moved a few miles from Sangerville to Foxcroft so that Harry and his brother Louis could attend the town’s academy, reputed to be the best in the county. From there Harry went at nineteen to Bowdoin College in Brunswick, the alma mater of Hawthorne and Longfellow, but he gave little sign of possessing their literary  talents. Rather, he seemed a quiet, unassuming youth of average ability, bound for a decidedly standard career, perhaps as a doctor since his highest grade in his first year was for hygiene.

Harry did indeed then move on to medical school - probably at Syracuse in New York, although no record of him has survived - but here he abruptly departed from the track laid down for him. In 1898, aged twenty-three, he caught gold fever.

The year before, news of the discovery of gold in the Canadian Yukon had triggered a rush north. Now Oakes too set out for the Klondike, initially to work as a medical assistant at Skagway, in Alaska. His family would not see him again for almost fifteen years.

Harry was, on the face of it, an unlikely gold prospector. He had never been fond of manly sports, and stood just five feet, six inches tall. He soon toughened up, however, living under canvas in freezing conditions, existing on little more than scraps. In Dawson City, he learned the miner’s trade, but all the land was already staked: the town was to be only the first stop in a quest that would take him around the world. From Alaska he travelled southwards to the Philippines, working his passage as a purser. Then he panned the Kalgoorlie goldfields of Western Australia before having a spell as a flax farmer and surveyor in New Zealand. Next he returned to America to try his luck in Death Valley, all the while (unlike most prospectors) seeking to increase his geological knowledge and thus his understanding of where gold was most likely to be found. In 1911, now aged thirty-seven, he arrived at the quaintly named Swastika railhead in northern Ontario, midway between Toronto and Hudson Bay.

Eight years earlier, silver had been found to the south at Cobalt while a railway cutting was being dug. In 1906, gold had been discovered at Larder Lake, about thirty miles east of Swastika. In the next two years, more than four thousand claims had been staked there. The stampede north accelerated when in 1910 the vast Hollinger mine was struck to the west at Timmins.

There were riches to be had from this natural treasure trove, but it was an arduous place in which to work, a densely wooded  landscape of lakes and streams where in winter the temperature plummeted to seventy degrees below zero and even the moose shivered. Yet under these dismal clumps of poplar and spruce around the town, believed Oakes, ran an extension of the vein found at Larder Lake. He was not alone. Dozens of others had staked or were working claims in the area (among them the future Lord Redesdale, whose daughter Unity Mitford, the future devotee of Adolf Hitler, was, as if by predestination, conceived at Swastika in 1913).

In the years after Oakes had made his fortune, the story was told that he had found his mine by chance. It was said that he had been aboard a train and had been turned off it for not having the money for a ticket. As he stood there in the snow, shaking his fist at the conductor as the engine pulled away, his toe struck a rock. He looked down, and saw a vein of gold glinting through the ice.

It was a tale entirely without foundation, and one that Oakes much resented. It did no justice to almost fifteen years of perseverance and slog, when he had to beg money for claims and credit for food from hardbitten folk in frontier towns who had heard it all before. He had nearly died of exposure in Alaska, and from sunstroke in Death Valley. Through it all he had maintained his confidence in his own abilities, preferring to work alone when he could, keeping a sharp eye out for promising strikes.

It was this combination of persistence, knowledge and preparedness that brought Oakes his chance. Luck had little to do with it. In January 1912, he discovered that a claim made by a man named Burroughs at Kirkland Lake, about six miles from Swastika, was about to lapse. Burroughs had failed to put in the necessary forty days’ work on the land. Lacking the funds to stake it himself, he proposed a partnership with four burly brothers, improbably named Tough, who had the contract to slash a road through the bush between Swastika and Larder Lake.

On the evening of 7 January, in weather so cold, legend later had it, that they had to wear five pairs of trousers, Oakes and the Toughs set off to walk through knee-deep snow to Kirkland Lake. As the claim expired at midnight, they restaked it as their own.  Three hours later, another veteran miner, Bill Wright, once a butcher’s apprentice in England, arrived at the lake, where some months before he had found traces of gold while hunting rabbits. Finding the others already in possession of Burroughs’s ground, he staked that next to it. The two claims would yield two of the richest mines in Canada, Tough-Oakes and Sylvanite, and turn Kirkland Lake into a boom town.

Oakes’s instinct had been right. Tests soon showed that the ground held gold, and by 1916 more than one hundred thousand tons of ore was being brought out of Tough-Oakes every month, and it was of an extraordinary richness, up to fifty times the average previously found in the region. Yet Oakes was convinced that there was still more to be had. Even before the first shipment had left the mine, he had staked two fresh claims on the south side of the lake, and then two others. Wright had made four claims to the west of the water, and in 1914, when Oakes incorporated his claims as the (as yet non-existent) Lake Shore Mine, he gave Wright two hundred thousand shares in the company in exchange for them.

As soon as he could, he began selling shares in Tough-Oakes to fund the sinking of new shafts beside the lake. But the work was held up by the outbreak of the First World War, and he needed still more capital. No prospector in Canada had ever managed to retain a mine of his own through to profit, and despite his faith in himself he could not rouse the enthusiasm of Toronto’s financiers. So he went across the border to Buffalo, where he finally succeeded in selling half a million shares to investors at 32½ cents each.

Oakes was convinced that a second streak of ore existed on his property. Later it was said that he had a theory that the veins of gold were arranged like the rays of the sun, or that one of the numerous eccentric characters drawn to Kirkland Lake, a reclusive Jewish woman named Roza Brown, had advised him to look under the water itself. Whatever the truth, there was soon nowhere that Oakes had not tried except below the lake, and in 1917 with the help of an engineer he made a flat cross-cut north from the Number One vein.

Suddenly the drill bit tore into rock banded with yellow. The men shrieked and hollered with joy. Oakes had found his bonanza - not a vein but an artery of gold more than forty feet wide and eight thousand feet deep. His skill and tenacity had been repaid a thousandfold.

There was still much to do. Equipment needed to be bought and labour found, all at a time when Canada was haemorrhaging men to the trenches of Flanders and Oakes himself was embroiled in litigation with the Toughs. When the money was finally found for development, and to bring in electric power from Cobalt seventy miles away, the new strike was threatened by water which seeped into it from above, while treacherous quicksand made it hard to work the rock.

Yet Oakes persevered. Soon the ore proved to be so heavy with gold that the mine could afford its own mill, and then its own smelter, which increased the yield to record levels. Lake Shore became the third in what was eventually a chain of seven contiguous gold mines, half of them owned by Oakes or Wright, that stretched for more than two miles.

In the half-century of its existence, Lake Shore would yield eight million, five hundred thousand ounces of gold. By 1929, when it was milling daily one thousand tons of ore, it was producing, on average, eighteen thousand dollars’ worth of gold per day (now worth about one hundred and ten thousand pounds sterling). The following year, having overtaken Hollinger, it was the largest producer in the western hemisphere, and the third largest in the world (after two South African mines). At its peak in the mid-1930s it was disgorging some two and a half thousand tons of rock every day. Of all the mines in the Americas, only the Homestake in the Black Hills of North Dakota, the basis of the Hearst fortune, ever gave up more gold.

Those investors who had backed Oakes saw not single ships but whole fleets come in. For every dollar that they had put up in 1916 they took out, at the height of their shares’ worth, almost two hundred; and no one benefited more than the major  shareholder, Oakes himself. Unlike most miners, he had managed to retain half of the company’s shares - a million of them. Then, in the early 1930s, he received a piece of luck that stratospherically increased the value of his holdings: the American government raised the price of gold. For decades it had been fixed at $20.67 per ounce. Now, in order to devalue the dollar during the Depression, President Roosevelt increased that mark - almost doubled it - to thirty-five dollars.

By 1943, when Oakes died, it is estimated that Lake Shore had produced about two hundred million dollars’ worth (now worth about £1.2 billion) of gold. This was the basis of most reports about the size of Oakes’s fortune, but in fact the mine had paid up just over ninety million dollars in dividend profit, half of it to him. Nonetheless, in an era when money went further, and millionaires were fewer, he was comfortably one of the world’s wealthiest people. Not as well off as John D. Rockefeller, perhaps about half as flush as the British branch of the Astors, but Oakes was still one of the richest citizens of the Empire that he had joined when in 1915, for business purposes, he had taken Canadian nationality.

He must have felt a long way from his boyhood in Sangerville, Maine. But then, the docile Harry Oakes of those days had gone too. His experiences of fending for himself in the harsh wilderness, of being ripped off, of always being short of money, had forged a gruffer, more autocratic and single-minded man.

As someone whose prosperity was built on hard work, he was not one to tolerate idleness: the fourteen hundred miners at Lake Shore soon learned to go down to the deeper reaches of the shaft when he was about so as not to risk a tongue-lashing. Some of his staff at Kirkland Lake remembered him afterwards as brusque and demanding, and his generosity to the town was compared unfavourably with that of Bill Wright. Others mocked his grandiosity in erecting such a fancy log cabin to serve as his home - it was even heated by steam from the mine - and nicknamed it ‘the Château’.

Yet these criticisms, which other writers have turned into the standard portrait of Oakes, only catch half the man. The accusations  of parsimony seem unfair given the nature of Kirkland Lake, a town in the middle of nowhere, built with tar paper and timber, which none expected to last beyond the usual short lifetime of a mine - perhaps ten years. Tough-Oakes, in fact, closed down after fifteen. Few people invested in such places for the long-term, and almost no one thought that Lake Shore would be goingstrong after nearly three decades. Even so, in the early years Oakes still built a sports arena, sponsored the ice-hockey team and constructed a nine-hole golf course at the mine - a reminder of his genteel origins.

His younger daughter later characterised him as a man who had no sympathy for those who were looking for a free meal, but his liberality to those in need could be boundless. After his death, the family received dozens of letters from those he had helped, among them former employees. The six mines at Kirkland Lake had provided work for some five thousand men, including Wally Floody, who later dug one of the tunnels for the ‘Great Escape’ from a German prison camp during the Second World War.

Their life was hard, toiling eight thousand feet underground - much deeper than a coal mine - and so close was each shaft that those in one mine could hear others at work in that next door. Everything revolved around the unforgiving ore. Roads laid on it buckled as moisture crept in from the underground workings. (The road through the town itself was actually paved for a mile of its length with high-yield ore: the construction crew had selected the wrong rock pile.) Yet exhausting and dangerous as the life could be, when there were few jobs to be had in the 1920s and 1930s the miners and their families were profoundly grateful for Harry Oakes. In 1979, his widow was one of the guests of honour at the town’s jubilee celebrations.

He had met Eunice McIntyre, a young Australian, in 1923 while travelling by ship to South Africa to discuss mining technology; the vessel was a passenger-carrying freighter rather than a luxury liner, since for all his new wealth Oakes still liked to be careful with his money.

Eunice, the daughter of a civil servant, was heading for  Mauritius, where her sister had married a sugar planter. At twenty-four, she was fully quarter of a century younger than Oakes, and with her good complexion and striking looks she seemed an odd match with the short, middle-aged prospector. Hitherto, romance had not figured much in Harry’s life, but now the prospect of a new start opened for him. His tales of gold-mining caught her interest, while she aroused his protective instincts, and they found themselves laughing together often. When they reached Victoria Falls he proposed marriage. Then at Cape Town came the news that her father had died. Oakes was a great comfort to Eunice, and he rearranged his plans so that he could accompany her home to Sydney. They were married there at the end of June, and less than a year later, in May 1924, their first child was born and christened Nancy.

Nancy spent her first years at the Château, where her parents had the plasterwork of her playroom decorated with characters from fairy tales and nursery rhymes. Soon she was joined by Sydney, William Pitt (his grandfather’s names), Shirley and Harry Jr.

By the time of his youngest son’s arrival, in 1932, Oakes had moved his family slightly closer to civilisation than Kirkland Lake. He had bought a property on the high ground by Niagara Falls, on the Canadian side, that he renamed Oak Hall. During the Depression, he proved to be Niagara’s main benefactor, financing employment schemes in the town as well as donating land for a park and what is now the Oakes Garden Theatre. Such civic endowments prove that he was not the miser his detractors have made him out to be.

Nor did he stint on himself, either. Oak Hall - with its Tudor panelling brought from Hampton Court Palace, its chairs on which had sat the signatories to the treaty ending the Boxer Rebellion, and its fashionable ‘natatorium’ (indoor swimming pool) - cost him half a million dollars to refurbish. Then there was the house at swanky Bar Harbor in Maine, the two in Palm Beach, and a mansion in Sussex (Tottingworth Park, an ugly Victorian confection, just waiting to be turned into a retirement home).

Indeed England, and the cultivation of English society, was becoming more important to Oakes, and in 1935 he bought a house in London at 15A Kensington Palace Gardens, then popularly known as ‘Millionaires’ Row’. (In 2004, the house became one of the most expensive in Europe when it was sold by its then owner for forty-one million pounds). His neighbours included the Duke of Marlborough, the Marquess of Cholmondeley and Sir Alfred Beit, the diamond heir. The Oakeses had arrived.

Oakes was perhaps less keen than his colonial-born wife on impressing the British with his wealth. He never made any concessions to their dress codes, striding past the nobs in his customary rig of well-worn coat, corduroy breeches and high-laced boots as if for all the world he was off to prospect for gold in Hyde Park. His riches simply meant that he never had to change his behaviour to suit others. Instead he could indulge himself.

Some of the time that entailed behaving like the surly miner he now was; his wife despaired when he stomped across her brand new white carpet in his muddy top-boots. At other moments he could play the part expected of him, one that retained traces of his earlier life and tastes. So in London he commissioned Joe Duveen to buy art for him - a Rembrandt, a Gainsborough, a Constable, two Turners and a Vermeer, the last acquired from J. P. Morgan - and had glasses made to match the silver wallpaper in his dining room. He also began to give money away.

Most notably, in 1938 he donated ninety thousand pounds - about three million pounds in today’s money - towards the reconstruction of London’s St George’s Hospital, then located at Hyde Park Corner (the building is now the Lanesborough Hotel). It was an act of generosity in tune with his principles, but also one calculated to make a splash. The next year he had his reward - ‘for public and philanthropic service’ - when he was created a baronet in the King’s birthday-honours list, the last to be gazetted before the outbreak of war. He might not change his ways to fit in, but he undoubtedly wanted some recognition of what he had achieved. Now, as Sir Harry Oakes, Bt, he had it.

The only thorn in what had become Oakes’s bed of roses was his frustration at the amount of tax levied on his Canadian operations. During the 1920s, the government had effectively allowed mine owners to write off half their tax as a way of encouraging investment. But when a Conservative administration was elected in 1930 taxes were raised sharply, especially on profits from mining. Oakes, who had been a conspicuous supporter of the previous Liberal government, felt victimised. By the mid-1930s, he was paying eighty-five per cent of his income in taxation - some three million dollars (now twenty million pounds), making him the largest single contributor to the Canadian revenue - although he was only spending about three months a year in the country. As he entered his sixties, he began, too, to think about limiting his exposure to Canada’s heavy death duties.

Two men provided the solution to his worries. The first was his American attorney and adviser Walter Foskett, a short, sleek, self-made lawyer who had founded a highly successful partnership in Palm Beach on the back of the Florida real-estate boom of the Thirties.

The second was Harold Christie.

 
When Oakes first met Christie, probably in 1933, Christie was not yet forty but he had already had a busy life. Born into a family long established in the Bahamas, he was one of eight children of an eccentric father who made little provision for his offspring’s welfare. He had had occasional spells as a successful businessman, but by the time Harold was growing up he had forsaken this for a life of evangelical preaching and writing poetry. The high point of this literary career came when he took third prize in an Empire-wide competition to compose an ode on the coronation of King Edward VII. The practical management of the household devolved to his wife Madge, a veteran of twenty pregnancies.

The sandy-haired Harold was just old enough to serve when the First World War began and he chose to trek north to join the Royal Canadian Air Force. He appears to have taken readily to  the opportunities afforded by the wider world outside the Bahamas, and when in 1920 the sale of alcohol was banned in America he began acting as a middleman between the alcohol wholesalers of Nassau and their under-the-counter customers in the United States.

Although many Bahamians knew all too well what Harold’s work was during Prohibition, it was not something that he shouted about. While it rapidly made him money, by the time that he met Oakes he was better known in the islands for his more recent activities as a member of its parliament (his constituents included the young Sidney Poitier), as a highly successful estate agent - his business since 1925 - and as the roving representative of the Bahamas.

These last two roles were the twin faces of the idea that drove Christie from the late 1920s onwards, the conviction that the Bahamas - hitherto regarded by the few outsiders who knew of them as sun-blighted scraps of coral - could become a prosperous resort. Sunbathing was just starting to become fashionable, and the islands had no shortage of sand, water and sunshine. Certainly the infrastructure was inadequate, and there were few proper hotels, but Christie realised that investors could soon remedy this. He had two sizeable incentives to offer them: land for development was cheap - and in the Bahamas there was no income tax. All Christie had to do was find his investors.

He was helped in this by the depressed economy of the early 1930s, which drove up taxes in Europe and America and prompted the rich to look for safe havens for their money. The persuasive, patient, amiable Christie toured the European Rivieras, Long Island and Palm Beach with his brochures and patter and was soon selling plots of land to a steady stream of clients. His first big catch, however, was Harry Oakes.

The Bahamas were just what Oakes was looking for. Not only would he not have to pay out on his earnings if he moved there, but in addition the rate of inheritance tax was only two per cent. Moreover, the islands seemed to offer him the opportunity to leave his stamp on a whole country that, unlike the Canadian government, appeared positively pleased to have him as a resident.

Foskett set to work devising a tax-efficient shelter for Oakes’s assets. His million shares in the Lake Shore mine were sold to various Bahamian companies formed by Oakes himself. He then bought shares in these corporations, which effectively paid him as a dividend what they received in turn from the mines. Yet since the Lake Shore shares were no longer owned by Oakes but by the holding companies, he was not liable to pay income tax on them in Canada, and once he moved to the Bahamas in 1934 he had to pay the Canadian treasury only a five per cent withholding tax on the mines’ earnings. Between 1935 and 1939 the Bahamian corporations gathered in $22,750,000, of which the Canadian revenue was able to take a mere $1.1 million. Oakes’s transfer to sunnier climes had saved him eighteen million dollars, equivalent to one hundred million pounds today.

By the time that he and his children were settled in Nassau, Oakes had another reason for shaking off memories of Canada. In January 1935 his sister Gertrude, who had helped to finance his early prospecting and who had later become chief accountant at the mine, was drowned. She had been a passenger on a liner bound for Havana when its steering gear had failed. It had recently become law for steering systems to be rigged so that, like a motor car but unlike a conventional tiller, a turn of the wheel to port or starboard would take the ship in that direction. The emergency steering gear, however, had not been modified, and when an order to turn to starboard was issued the vessel instead shifted to port, and into the path of a fast-moving freighter. Forty-five lives were lost in the subsequent collision, including that of Gertrude Oakes. It was the first in a long line of shadows that would fall across the family.

Pursued by bitter headlines in the Canadian press (‘Heart Like Frigidaire to the Land That Gave Him Wealth’), Oakes quickly began to make his presence felt on New Providence, the principal island of the Bahamas and the site of its capital, Nassau. In time, with Christie’s aid, he would buy up almost a third of the island, or about ten thousand acres. He began with houses. The first, Caves Point, became his main residence in the Bahamas.  Built for him on a low ridge about eight miles outside Nassau, its square, donjon-like tower overlooked the sea and Lake Killarney behind. Local journalists faithfully recorded all its wonders: the twelve bedrooms; the picture windows on three sides of the living room, which had a white sand beach underneath for the children; the fifty-two thousand gallons of water in the swimming pool.

A smaller home, the Gatehouse, stood at the entrance to the road along the crest to the Caves. To this were later added a town house in Nassau and a penthouse in the city’s main hotel, the British Colonial, itself owned by Oakes and supposedly bought on the spur of the moment after he had been refused admittance because of his scruffy clothes. Then, at the water’s edge, beyond the golf course, there lay Westbourne.

 
The house, acquired from Maxine Elliott, a former child star in silent films, was large but not grand, built of white-painted wood on two storeys, with a veranda along the ground floor and a balcony walkway around the dozen bedrooms on the level above. Outside staircases on two sides - to the north, facing the ocean, and to the east - gave access to this. Greenery clambered up the pillars and along the balustrade shaded by the rows of shutters and long roofline, which rose to a single peak over the main entrance.

Inside, it was comfortably furnished without being stuffy. The rooms were plain rather than homely, for the Oakeses thought of it mainly as their ‘beach house’, an occasional retreat rather than their principal abode. Nonetheless, Sir Harry spent much time here, working diligently to improve the garden and the view onto the sand, now lined by palms. It was cooler down there, too, the wind blowing off the ocean and through the tall casuarinas, and he regularly slept at Westbourne since it was close to Nassau. His room caught the breezes on both sides, and opened out towards the sea.

At the start of 1943, a colonnade had been constructed, linking the house with the neighbouring golf and country club, providing garaging for cars and space above for accommodation. In time, Westbourne was intended to serve as the club’s annexe.

The golf course was characteristic of Oakes’s developments on the island, created and maintained seemingly without regard to cost and with a single-minded determination to show what could be done. He was a keen amateur player - golf became his bond with the Duke of Windsor, and they were due to play on the day his body was found - and he enjoyed vexing the Governor and other golfing visitors, among them the Crown Prince of Nepal, by using his bulldozer to change holes and bunkers overnight between their rounds. Any sand trap in which his own ball landed would be swiftly eliminated.

Oakes certainly liked to demonstrate who was in control, particularly if it improved his chances of winning. But such teasing shows, too, that he had a sense of humour, albeit a broad one. He was not the killjoy he was later made out to be. For instance, when he was in Palm Beach, his daughter Nancy maintains, he liked a flutter at the casino. He was no high roller, perhaps, but this activity gives the lie to one oft-aired explanation for his murder, namely that he did not approve of gambling and was killed by the American Mafia because he opposed their schemes for building (and controlling) casinos in Nassau.

He had no moral objection to betting, nor did he want to preserve the Bahamas in amber - his construction projects are evidence enough that he wanted the country to develop its potential. Moreover, the Mafia theories are based on a fundamental misapprehension. Oakes would not have tried to block the legalisation of gambling in the Bahamas, because it was already legal. Since 1920 a casino had operated (for tourists only) at the Bahamian Club in Nassau, although it had been suspended for the duration of the war. Its activities were entirely above board - the money that financed its building had been loaned by the colonial administration.

Oakes’s other sporting interests included polo, and he duly imported twenty ponies to provide mounts for two teams. But most of his other introductions were less frivolous, relating mainly to the islands’ economic development. When he arrived there, the Bahamas were very far from being the modern centre of  international finance that they are now. Needy, backwards and remote, they were among the poorer relations of a family - the West Indies - which rated only a very small mention in any list of the British Crown’s assets.

 
The Bahamas comprise more than 3,100 isles, islets, rocks and cays, all floating in the one hundred thousand square miles of shallow water - or baja mar - south-east of Florida for which their Spanish discoverers named them. In 1943, only thirty were inhabited, and almost half of the islands’ population of sixty-nine thousand lived on just one, New Providence. Most of them struggled to make a living, for the soil in the Bahamas barely covers the coral and they are arid and flat, lacking the mountains, rivers and lush landscapes of the Caribbean further south. The country’s highest peak, Mount Alvernia, rises to 210 feet.

Ever since one of the smaller isles, San Salvador, became the first place seen by Columbus in the New World, European settlers had tried, and failed, to reap a profit from the Bahamas. After the Spaniards had chased out the local Arawak Indians, and had been chased out in turn by the British, a colony was established in 1659 by Puritan adventurers at what is now Nassau. Its double-ended harbour made it the natural site for a town, but despite the optimistic name given to the island where it lay, New Providence was an unfortunate choice of home. Unlike neighbouring islands, it suffers much of the year from a stifling heat and an almost asphyxiating humidity. Snow has been known to fall on Nassau - once, in 1798.
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